44

At his death, Stephen E. Miller was chosen Pastor, and occupied that

ition during his lifee He died in 1873, and was succeeded by his son,

ohn Miller, who is the present Pastor.

In 1876, a church-building, 40x82 feet, was erected by this denomina-
t.lon,k in the village of Gravelton, where services are held every four
weeks.

The Methodist Episcopal Church.—In the summer of 1838, a Meth-
odist Episcopal Church was organized on the south side of the marsh, by
Rev. Mr. Ockerman, with the following constituent members: David
McCibben, Mary McCibben, Samuel McCibben, Elizabeth McCibben,
Eleanor Jane Alexander, Mary Miller and Eve Miller. They continued to
hold regular class-meetings at the house of their leader, David McCibben,

for many years, but were unable to in regular preaching
In 1864, the bership had b 80 reduced by deaths and remov-

als, that the org W ded. and the few bers who i
identified themselves with the United Brethren Church, then recently
organized. -

The Evangelical Association, or Albrights—An orgavization was
effected by this denomination in 1852, and regular. services were conducted
for several years, when their Pastor left them. The members then united
with the Methodist Church, but before their term of probation expired,
their Pastor retarned to them, when they re-organized.

In 1875, they began the erection of a church-building on Section 27,
which was completed and dedicated in 1877.

EARLY IMPROVEMENTS.

Saw-Mill.—Daniel Bowser built the first saw-mill in 1848, on the bank
of Turkey Creek.

GRAVELTON.

The village of Gravelton was laid out by David Brumbaugh, in 1876,
on the B., P. & C. Railroad. Mr. Brumbaugh opened the first store in the

PERSONAL SKETCHES.

village, the same year, and Levi Miller was appointed Postmaster. In this
office he was succeeded by David Brumbaugh, the present Postmaster.

SCOTT TOWNSHIP.

Seott Township is situated in the northwest corner of Kosciusko
County, and is bounded as follows: North by Elkhart County, east by Jef-
ferson Township, south by Etoa Township, west by Marshall County.

The general character of its soil is good, and so much of it as can be
tilled compares favorably with other portions of the county. There are,
however, some localities which are flat and marshy, and quite untillable.
The township was organized March 7, 1848.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

In the fall of 1837, Casper Hepler and family, Jacob and Henry
Yockey and Jacob Hepler settled on Section 11. During the following
winter, they were engaged in clearing land, and, in the spring of 1838,
planted crops.

James Murray was also one of the early settlers, and gave the Potta-
watomie Indians an *“object lesson” which had a salutary effect, and
insured the peace of the little community.

When the township was first entered by white settlers, the Indians
manifested a disposition to annoy them, and prevent what they regarded as
an encroachment upon their domain. Mr. Murray determined to teach
them that they must submit to such invasion, and went to. a large beech-
tree in the neighborhood, on whose smooth bark he carved a human profile,
and within the outline of the profile he drew a heart,in the center of which
he lodged a rifle-ball. Shortly afterward, he met an Indian, to whom he
showed his work, explaining the lesson it taught, and told him the settlers
meant to deal just so with all who molested them. It had the desired
effect, as the few Indians who remained | very p bl

The township settled very slowly, and for several years after the arrival
of the Heplers, they were almost without neighbors.

With the exception of the marshes, the township was heavily over-
grown with timber, nearly half of which still remains. ;

The First Houses were log cabins, erected by Casper Hepler and Jacob
and Henry Yockey, in the fall of 1837.

The First Death was that of Daniel, son of David Hepler.
August 17, 1839.

The First Marriage was solemnized in 1839, John Coil and Elizabeth
Hepler being the principal parties in the ceremony.

The First Church was erccted by the Lutheran denomination,in 1844.
The congregation sub ly became disorganized, and the church was
torn down and removed.

The First School was taught by John Haddock, in a log cabin near the
present site of the Zinn Schoolhouse.

The First Post Office was established at Millwood, in 1853. J. D.
Koffel was the first Postmaster and mail carrier, the route being from Lees-
burgh to Millwood. The office was subsequently discontinued, but three
years thereafter was re-established (under the same name) one mile west of
its former location. Valentine Hamman was then appointed Postmaster.

The First Saw-Mill in the township was erected at Millwood, in 1852,
by J. D. Koffel. -

The First Store was kept by William B. Jones and J. D. Koffel. Their
goods were purchased at Toledo, Ohiv, and were forwarded to Warsaw,
from whence they were hauled to their destination in wagons.

The First Physician was Dr. John W. Love, who settled in the town-
ship at an early day, and practiced his profession for « number of years.

There are no villages in the township, and merchandising is not one of
its prominent features. Tts residents are engaged almost exclusively in
agricultural pursuits, and are enterprising and successful in their vocation.

He died

)

PERSUNALTSKETUHES

OF SOME OF THE PROMINENT MEN AND PIONEERS OF KOSCIUSKO COUNTY.

P. L. RUNYAN, Sr., Warsaw.
BY COL. J. B. DODGE.

Peter L. Runyan, or “ Uncle Peter,” as he is familiarly called, was
born August 9, 1806,in Greene (lounty, Ohio. His parents, Abraham
and Sophia (Lynch) Runyan, were natives of Harrison County, Va.,
and removed to Ohio shortly after their marriage, in 1801, removing to
Clark County in the same State, in 1811.

Always living vn the frontier, and forming a part of the advance guard
of civilization, the subject of this sketch was deprived of nearly ali oppor-
tunity for acquiring an education. The only school he ever attended was
in a rude log schoolhouse, with a log removed on each side and the opening
covered with greased paper, which admitted but a fuint light, and scarcely
excluded the cold.

February 26, 1829, he married Miss Mary Ervin, and has reared a
large family, of which any father might justly be proud. His sons,
Peter L., Johu N. and George K., are well and favorably known in this
county for their enterprise and sterling worth. His eldest daughter is the
wife of Dr. Chandler, of Leesburg; the youngest daughter is the wife
of J. 8. Baker, Ksq., Auditor-elect of Kosciugko County.

In November, 1831, Mr. Runysn decided to move further west, and,
accompanied by his fumily and futher-in law, Charles Ervin, with his fam-
ily, they placed their household goods in wagons, drawn by oxen, and
started for Indiuna. After a weary journey-of twenty-five days, they
reached the present site of Goshen, Elkhart *Co., Ind. In the follow-
ing summer, the Black Hawk war occurred, and the few settlers at that
place were apprehensive that the Indians in that section might join the
hostile tribes, and some left for older settlements, while others armed for
defense and remained. Mr. Runyan was among the latter.

In the fall of 1832, he was elected Justice of the Peace, and held that
position until January 10, 1836, at which time he resigned his office. In
1834, he came from Goshen to a point near the present location of Mil-
ford, to officiate at the marriage of Henry H. Wilkinson with Miss Wright
—one of the first marriages in Kosciusko County.

Early in 1836, he located at Ieesburg, Kosciusko Co., Ind., and, in
partnership with Thomas Thomas, engaged in the sale of merchandise. At
the same time, he was appointed Deputy Sheriff. In 1838, he sold his
interest in the store at Leesburg, and, in 1839, removed to Warsaw, where
he became proprietor of the Losier House.

The county seat was located at Warsaw in June, 1836, and there was
at once a desperate effort to have it removed. Leesburg and Oswego, in
the north pert of the county, were striving for it, and there was a strong
effort made in the south part of the county, to have a new county organized
from portiong of Kosciusko, Wabash, Fulton and Miami. Politics were
abandoned at once, and * Clippers " and “ Anti-Clippers” were the only
party designations known ; locality alone was the test. Marshall and Kos-
viusko Counties then formed a Representative District. After four years
hard fighting, Mr. Runyan was alected Representative to the State Legisla-
ture in 1840, which was the first substantial victory gained by either party.
During that Legislative session, the State was re districted, and Kosciusko
and Whitley Counties formed a Representative District. Mr. Runyan was
re-nominated by the “ Anti-Clippers,” and, after a bitter contest, was
re-elected. He was Commissioner of the * Three-Per-Cent Fund,” a fund
derived from the sale of public lands, and expended in the opening of

| years, during which time he superintended the erection of the present

Court House, and former jail. From 1849 to 1853, he was engaged in

selling goods; in 1853, he secured contracts for carrying the mail, and,
| from that time until the completion of the P., Ft. W. & C. R. R., he was
‘ engaged in running a daily stage from Warsaw to Ft. Wayne, and a tri-
weekly stage from Warsaw to Plymouth ; from Warsaw to Goshen; from
Warsaw to Pern, and from Warsaw to Rochester. His contracts expired
in 1857, when he again became a merchant, and so coatinued until Jan-
uary, 1861, when Warsaw was visited by her first great fire. After the
conflagration, Mr. Runyan found himself, at an advanced age, almost pen-
niless ; the careful accumulations of a long and active life had vanished in
flame and smoke. But he was never the man to repine or despair. In
April, 1861, he was appointed Postmaster at Warsaw, and was re-appointed
April 28, 1865, which position he heid until December, 1866, when he
was removed for purely political reasons.

On the 16th day of November, 1862, his wife, the companion of his
toils, passed from earth to a better land. Mr. Runyan has been, for more
than fifty years, a consistent and devoted member of the Methodist Episco-
pal Church. He has always been earnest in all his convictions and feel-
ings; fearlessly honest and upright in all his dealings. He has reached a
ripe old age, and is honored and revered by all.

HON. JOHN B. CHAPMAN.

The following autobiography is compiled from papers now in the pos-
session of his son, Col. C. W, Chapman :

“In the year of our Lord 1803, my father emigrated to Clarksburg,
Harrison Co., Va., in which he continued to reside until his death in 1822,
He erected the first fulling-mill, oil and grist mill west of the Alleghany
Mountains. They were located on a stream known as Davidson's Run, two
miles west from Clarksburg.”

The subject of this memoir was born in Harrison County, Va., on the
24th day of December, 1797, and worked with his father until he sold out.
John B. was then twelve years old. His father subsequently re-entered the
factory business, which the war of 1812 had stimulated, and the boy's labor
beeame too important to spare him for schooling, hence his early education
was neglected ; in the summer of 1815, he left home for Winchester, Va.,
when, through the aid of Dr. Longaker, he found employment as clerk in
the hotel ; the following summer, the Doctor helped him to a similar posi-
tion in Baltimore, Md., at good wages; he subsequently returned to
Clarksburg, when his father gave him a horse and clothing, and advised him
to “go West;" he passed through the south part of Ohio, to Louisville,
Ky., and Vincennes, Ind.; here he resolved on a trip to Texas, aud engaged
as a pilot to take a boat up Red River; although a new undertaking, he
succeeded ; his journey extended into the interior. The United States
troops were on the lookout for filibusters in that region, and this, in con-
nection with “ ways that were dark and tricks that were vain,” gave him a
a dislike for that country, and he returned to civilization; he arrived at
home July 4, 1817, and indulged in the soliloquy that “ there is a Provi-
dence in all things "—that the creative power had watched over and pro-
tected him amid dangers from man and beast. He studied medicine with
Dr. Williams, of Clarksburg; preparatory to entering upon that study,
began to study Latin, which, ut first, notwithstanding he memorized the

roads and building of bridges, from September, 1837, to September, 1841,
and superintended in person the opening of nearly all the principal roads
in the county during that time, as well as the construction of the bridges
across all the streams of consequence. He was also appointed Commis-
sioner of the “ Surplus Revenue Fund ” in May, 1838, and held that posi
tion two years. He was Collector of Taxes for Kosciusko County in

1839; was appointed County Agent in 1843, and held that position six

g , was not intelligible to him; his subsequent progress was rapid,
however, o that his teacher advised his father to send him to college to per-
fect his education ; but no—he was to study medicine with Dr. Williams,
and, accordingly, he took up anatomy and pharmacy—old books, unfortun-
ately, printed before Galen's time, and he failed to appreciate them ; he was
then sent to Dr. Holiday, of Parkersburg, Va., and made satisfactory
progress, so that his father gave him an outfiv of books and medicine, and

he took his departure for Tyler County, Va., where he subsequently mar-
ried Miss Margaret McCoy, of whose family we are told, “ they were the
most distinguished in the county.” His wife, a native of Ireland, “ was a
woman of great strength of mind and body; could do more work and
attend to more business thau any other woman " that he knew; they were
married May 19, 1819, and located at Sistersville, on the Ohio River.
This town site was inherited by the Misses Wells, one of whom, John
MeCoy, brother of his wife, had married. In 1828, he removed to Bur-
lington, Iowa, and made money there, although he considered it too sickly
even for a doctor. His son Albert died there. From there he removed to
Guyandotte, Va., and engaged in medicine with success. Here his third son,
John McCoy Chapman, was born, and here he gubsequently studied law
with John Laddy, of Barkersville, Cabell County ; and when he wished to
obtain his license to practice, he had to cross the Alleghany Mountains to
the residences of Judge James Allen, of Rockingham, Judge Peter Jolin-
son, in Washington Couuty, and Judge Summers, at Charleston, Kanawha
County, after obtaining which he visited a number of places in search of a
location. He attended the courts in Kentucky, in the mountains of Vir-
ginia, and finally started for Crawfordsville, Montgomery, Co., Ind.; he
stopped, en route, at Richmond, in 1826,.where his son Charles Warner
Chapman, was born. In 1827, he located in Crawfordsville, where he
remained two years, when he opened a farm about one and a half miles out
of town, where he planted an orchard.

Politically, he wasa Jacksqn Democrat. He first voted for Old Hickory”
in Logan County, Va. in 1823. He practiced law and wmedicine, and
worked his farm. He informs us that the only difficulty he had in getting
along was his persistent meddling with polities.

He was Prosecuting Attorney for the Northern Circuit of Indiana in
1834, when it embraced all the regions north of the Wabash, and, the same
year, was elected to the Legislature for Elkhart and La Grange Counties.
Ele prepared the bill that fixed the boundaries and gave the name to Kosci-
usko County, and secured its passage.

He was appointed by the President Local Agent of Indian Reserves,
just before his election to the Legislature, in 1834. His eccentricities were
proverbial and sometimes caused him trouble. At one time, the Land
Officer of La Porte became so incensed that he gave his pre-emption to two
other men, and directed his neighbors to drive him off from the prairie!
Nothing daunted, he went to Washington and obtained his pre-emption from
the higher powers, returned, took possession of the plowing, sowing, fencing,
etc., that they had done, “ and the evil-doers fled the country that they
could not ruin ! "

In the summer of 1835, he bought two sections of land at the mouth
of Deep River, and laid out the town of Liverpool on one of them, in 1836.
He took a store there ; also took two partners in the land, of which $50,000
in lots was sold, his share of which $16,000. For the remainder of his
share, he was offered $40,000; but, as his wife wanted $60,000, they did
not sell. He procured the location of the county seat at Liverpool; sub-
sequently, Porter County was subdivided into Lake and Porter Counties,
which killed the county seat, and he returned to Leesburg. He was one of
the original proprietors of Warsaw, county seat of Kosciusko County, and
gave it that name. He sold his interest in the town site, in 1836, to
William N. Hood, for $1,000.

In his general narrations, he recounts frequent visits to Washington, D.

', and informs us that he “b quainted with the p of the
nation”—with President Jackson and Vice President Martin Van Buren,
and dined with the latter. He * was acquainted with Col. Richard John-
son, the Tecumseh killer !”

He was restless and wanted to see all of the world that he could. He
visited the Pacific Slope, traveled over Oregon, California, Washington and
Alaska Territories.




GEN.,REUBEN WILLIAMS.

Gen. Williams, whose portrait adorns this page of our work, was
born in what is now the city of Tiffin, Ohio, in the year 1833. His
ancestors, in the paternal line, were distinguished for their services
during important epochs in the history of our country. His grand-
father served with credit during the continuance of the Revolution-
ary war, as a volunteer in the Maryland Continental army ; while his
father, after whom the subject of our sketch was named, served gal-
lantly in the late war with Great Britain, and was the Sergeant who
commanded the guard for the prisoners of war captured by Commo-
dore Perry, at the battle of Lake Erie, while being taken to Chilli-
cothe, Ohio, at that time the capital of the State.

After the war, his father settled in what is now Tiffin, Ohio, and
remained there until he emigrated to Indiana, in 1845, making his
home at Warsaw, Kosciusko County.

Upon the arrival of the fami'y in their new home, the subject of
this sketch, then about twelve years of age, finding himself possessed
of an extremely limited education, and knowing that his father was
barely able to provide for his numerous family, not being very abund-
antly provided with this* world’s goods, determined to shift for him~
self, and thus contribute, indirectly, to relieve his parents of the
charge of his support.

After a threc month’s term of school at Mr. Cowan’s Seminary,
and a still shorter one under the care of Joseph A. Funk, Esq., we
find him making his first entry into the business which was destined
to be the great work of his life, when he commenced to take his first
lessons in the “art preservative,” under the instruction of Andrew J.
Bair, at that time the edifor of the Whi. organ of Kosciusko County.
After completing an appreuticeship of four years at the printing busi-
ness, he, for a short tine, published the “ Warsaw Democrat,” when,
feeling a desire to sec somcthing of the world, he traveled extensively
in several of the Western States, working in various newspaper offices
in Jowa. While at work in that State, the great party of the future
was being organized, and the old bers of the Whig party in Koe-
ciusko County desiring to have an organ which would correctly repre-
sent the views of the then new (Republican) party, which, although
young, embraced nearly all Antislavery men, presented a request for
him to return to Warsaw, and establish such a paper, assuring him
of their cordial support should he do so. He returned to Warsaw
in 1856, and, in company with (G. W. Fairbrother, commenced the
publication of the Northern Indianian.

On the 5th day of April, 1857, he was united in marriage with
Miss Jamima Hubler, a daughter of the late Maj. Henry Hubler, a
veteran soldier of the wars with Mexico and the great rebellion.
This marriage has proven a happy one, and, as old age comes to them
with silent tread, they can look with satisfuction to the past and feel
happy in the love and respect of the fine family of children who
gather at their hearthstone.

In the midst of his duties as a journalist, and while giving the
benefit of his ablest editorial work to the party of his choice, came
the storm of secession, which, for a time, threatened to engulf our
country. When Sumter was fired upon, he felt it his duty to serve
his country in another way, and, for more than four long years, his
life was spent upon the “ tented field.” The day Sumter fell, he
caused to!ge published a call for vol , and, on the 19th day of
Ajril, 1861, the first company that Kosciusko County sent to the
field was organized. Of this company, he was chosen Second Lieu-
tenant, and, in a few days, panied it to Indianapolis, where it,
with several other companies, was mustered intd the Twelfth Regi-
ment-of Indiana Infantry Volunteers. ~With this regiment his sub-
sequent forpunes were,closely identified during the war. The fegiment

was mustered into service for ome year, but, on the expiration of
its term of service, the General Government needing soldiers more
than ever, he took an active part in the re-organization of the regi-
ment, “for three years or during the war,” and to such good purpose,
that the records of the War Department show that a large portion of
the regiment had re-enlisted within a week of their discharge.

Upon the organization of the regiment in 1861, it was ordered
to Evansville, Ind., where it remained for some time, giving security
to travel and commerce on the Ohio River, and looking after the rebel
sympathfers on the Kentucky side of the river.

On the evening of the defeat of the Union troops in the first
battle of Bull Run, the regiment was ordered to join the command
of Gen. N. P. Banks, at Harper's Ferry, Va., which order was exe-
cuted with promptness. Soon after their arrival in Virginia, Capt.
Hubler was promoted to the position of Major of the regiment, and
Lieut. Williams was promoted to the Captaincy of the company by
its unanimous vote. The Twelfth remained with Gen. Banks
until April, 1862, participating in a number of skirmishes and
engagements of a minor character, and, in the spring of 1862, com-
posed the advance guard of the Union army when it oceupied Win-
chester, Va.

On the 11th day of December, 1861, Capt. Williams was capt-
ured by a Confederate force under Stonewall Jackson, while making
a reconnaisance of the enemy’s position, and was taken to Richmond,
Va., and confined in the famous “ Libby " Prison, where he remained
until exchanged in the following March.

Upon the re-organization of his regiment, Capt. Williams was com-
missioned its first Colonel, and held that rank until the battle of Rich-
mond, Ky., where Col. William H. Link, the commanding officer of the
regiment, fell mortally wounded, when Gov. Morton commissioned
him Colonel, which rank he held until near the close of the war,
when he received the appointment of Brevet Brigadier General of
Volunteers, from the President of the United States. After succeed-
ing to the command of his regiment, he was frequently called upon
to take command of his brigade, by virtue of his being the ranking
officer of the command ; and, during the famous Atlanta campaign,
he commanded a fine brigade until its close. After the fall of
Atlanta, Col. Williams was selected as one of the court-martial con-
vened to try the Indiana conspirators, or “ Knights of the Golden
Circle,” a treasonable organization existing in Indiana and other
States. In this capacity, he voted for the hanging of Milligan and
other conspirators, and it is no fault of his that they exist to-day.

At the conclusion of these courts-martial, Col. Williams rejoined
his regiment at Savannah, Ga., and commanded it on the march
through the Carolinas to Pet and Richmond, and thence to
Washington, where his regiment had the honor of leading in the
grand review, and was the first to pass before the President and the
thousands of visitors from all portions of our country. Its appear-
ance, as it marched down Pennsylvania avenue in column of com-
panies, was so impressive as to draw forth storms of cheers from’the
spectators, while officers and men were almost covered with the bou-
quets and wreaths of flowers bestowed by the fair ladies of Wash-
in|

n.
During the advance of Gen. Sherman through South Carolina,
it became ne to destroy certain railroads and stores of the
enemy, on the line of the railroad running from Florence to Charles-
ton. The mission promised to be a very difficult one; but Col.
Williams accepted it, and, with a few hundred mounted infantry, lef
the column while it was in full march to the northward, for this dan-
gerous expedition in a direction nearly opposite. _Cutting loose from
all communication, he penetrated the country to Florence, in the face
of a superior force of the enemy,and succeeded in destroying a large

number of railroad bridges, a large quantity of rebel stores and mate-
rial ; and, had his force been adequate, could have released the Union
prisoners at Florence, as he penetrated into the suburbs of the town;
after which he, by forced marches, rejoined Gen. Sherman. For his
masterly execution of his orders on this occasion, he received the
thanks of Gens. Sherman and Howard in person, and was recom-

mended for promotion at once. Upon the arrival of his command
at Washington, Col. Williams received his appointment as Brevet
Brigadier General, which the President requested Gen. John A.
Logan to deliver in person, with his compliments.

After a few weeks’ sojourn at the national capital, Gen. Williams
was selected to take charge of a large number of Indiana regiments
returning to their homes after the close of the war, which duty he
fulfilled, and saw them safely mustered out at Indianapolis. During
his military service, the General was present at the engagements at
Dam No. 4, Richmond, Ky., siege of Vicksburg, Jackson, Miss.,
Mission Ridge, Kenesaw Mountain, Atlanta, July 22 and 28,
Jonesboro, Bentonville, siege of Savannah, and innumerable affairs of
lesser importance.

The General always felt proud of his regiment, as, indeed, he well
might, for but few others could compare with it in drill and disci-
pline. 3 aall I3 tad

The regiment was on one - esp y )
by Gen. Sherman for its soldierly appearance upon dress parade.

Retiring from the service at the close of the war, the General
embarked in the book and stationery business, but r d in that
for a short time only, as there was an almost unanimous desire upon the
part of his old friends that he should again assume editorial control of
the Indianian, and, in a short time, we again find him the editor and
proprietor of that journal, and from that time on he has been at the
head of that paper, save a short intermission, which has, under
his guidance, taken a front rank with country papers. In 1867, he
was chosen Clerk of the Circuit Court for Kosciusko County, which
position he filled four years, in connection with his editorial position,
when he was again chosen without opposition in his own party for a
second term.

In 1875, upon the urgent solicitation of prominent Republicans
in the city of Fort Wayne, he consented to take charge of the
Daily Gazette, in that city, which position he held until December
of the same year, when he received the appointment of Deputy Sec-
ond Comptroller of the United States Treasury, at Washington,
which office he held for the space of seven months, when repeated
solicitations from old friends in Warsaw and Kosciusko County,
caused him to relinquish his position and re-connect himself with his
old paper. Since that time, he has remained at the head of the
Northern Indianian, which has by his labors become a power through-
out Indiana.

Although Gen. Williams has seen much more of all conditions
in life than most men have the opportunity of seeing, he is still in
the prime of life, being now in his 46th year, and bids fair to live
to a good old age.

The General has an interesting family of five sons and one
daughter ; his daughter, the eldest of the family, is the wife of the
Hon. Stanfield B. Frasier, Register in Bankruptcy, and a prom-
ising member of the legal fraternity. His boys are fast growing
into manhood, and can soon divide with him the labor he has sus-
tained alone.

The late Senator Morton held Gen. Williams in high esteem and
entrusted to his care numerous missions requiring tact and prudence
in their execution. Especially was this so during the dark days of
the rebellion, when Gov. Morton was the chief officer of our State
Government.




He obtained the office of Commissioner of Indian Reserves, of Post-
master for a new office, which he located at his own house, then included
in the bounds of Elkhart County, and a contract for a mail route, the time
of which he qualifies by saying: “I then held three commissions, one as
United States Attorney, signed by the Governor, and two under the United
States. This was prior to 1834.” He was a member of the Legislatare
when Kosciusko County was organized, and gave it its name. He laid out
the town of Warsaw, gave it the name, and secured to it the county
seat.

With a mmd in many respect.s eccentric nnd peculiar, he was a man of
remarkable foresight. He fi the ty, and predicted the route,
of our most important trunk lines of railroad, more than forty years ago—
the Lake Shore and Fort Wayne. To use his own language, he “ projected
a system of railroads, considered in a national point of view.” This, while
“railroads were a novelty, and a delicate subject to present to the people,
who hud no knowledge of the subject. He had fixed on his map two rail-
roads, confident that a railway would, in twenty years, be adopted for public
travel. There was but one railroad then in the United States. He had
traveled on it the winter previous, from Frederick to Baltimore, Md., and
had examined the improvement well, although it was only a korse railroad.
His programme was, one railroud from the lake ar Buffulo, N. Y., via
Toledo, La Girange and Elkhart, and via Chicago to Rock Island, on the
Mississippi River. The other road was to begin at Fort Wayne, and run
west through the center of the counties not yet laid out, to Michigan City.”
e prepared and secured the charter of the Buffalo & Mississippi Rail-
road Compuny, under which the Luke Shore was built. The liberal pro-
visions of that charter tempted capitalists to make the necessary invest-
ment.  After retiring from the bar in 1849, which he did on account of
his defective hearing, he, on his visit to the Pacific Slope, visited also
Puget’s Sound, and attempted to locate a land claim there, failing in which,
he predicted that it would be the western terminus of a transcontinental
railroad.  The Northern Pucific Road did make that point its western ter-
minus ! During his western tour, he pioneered in Kansas, and took an
active part in scttlmb the question whether that State should be slave or
free, espousing the free State cause. He there took an active part in pro-

jecting the railroad from Leavenworth, Kan., to Galveston, Tex. ; obtained |

 charter, und was the first President of the company, and lived to see that
great work accomplished.  During the latter years of his life, he became
poor, and was a clerk in the United States Treasury Department until, by
reason of advanced age, he was incapacitated, when he returned to Warsaw,
where he died at his residence, October 20, 1877.  Age did not paralyze
his tircless energy, nor seem to affect the acuteness of his mind, but the
body yielded. Mr. Chapman was distinguished for his generous hospitality
and the real grace with which he entertained his friends, of whom he had
muny.

“OQUR FIRST SHERIFE."

The following sketch by Metealfe Beck portrays a remarkable character,
widely known for his cccentricities, whose blunt manner often concealed the
genial nature within.

“Tsaue Kirkendall was born in Culpeper County, Va., January 15,
1787, and, strange as it may seewm, never boasted of the grand old State
which gave him birth, neither claimed honor from the place of his nativity.
He served as Sheriff from 1836 to 1840 ; at the time of his election he was
ubout 49 years old, stood six feet high, had one erooked eye, and was
cntirely bald except a thin fringe of gray hair around the lower and back
part of his head. His voice, when exerted, was a loud-sounding, asthmatic
treble, and when he called he was generally heard, for he was always in
earnest. His home was on the farm with his brother Jacob, on the ecast
side of Little Turkey Creek Prairie, and from theuce, passing through Lees-
burg, on a large dapple gray horse, might often be seen our first Sheriff on
his way to Wursaw, the county seat.

Once upon a time Tke made a speech at Leesburg, prior to his first
election, which ran thus:

“ GENTLEMEN : | am a candidate for Sheriff, and if you elect me, and
any of you need hanging while I am in office, [ will hang you dead as
h—1." He was elected, and, although some of his voters may have
deserved it, yet none of them were ever hanged during his term of office.

The first Sheriff was not of a literary cast of mind ; had a great dislike
for letter-writing, and when he did writ: was very laconic; he used to relate
the following: Some thae after his sett’ ent in this couniy, his folks in
Ohio used to write to him often, *“ and tease him like h—1" to write them
a letter; he delayed a long time; at length, finding Jake’s folks abroad one
Sunday, and the noisy children out of the way, he waz alone; be drew out
the kitchen table, ot paper, ink and quill pen, and seated himself to begin.
He wrote the name of the county and State, and the year and the month
and the day, and then began his letter. b

“Dear Brother, T am well.” Here he eame to a stop, and scratched his
head to think what next, and recollecting that he lived at Jake's, he put
down, “Jake's folks are well.” Here he came to another stop, and a
longer stop than before; «till no words came to his relief, and he ended his
letter by saying, *“and if you are well, then, by G—d, all’s well.

“Yours truly, LE"

The brevity of Grant and the profanity of Greeley are both apparent in
the Sheriff’s letter.  In politics, he was an Old-Line Whig, aud afterward
a Republican, but never quarreled with men for dierence of opinion. He
was an efficient officer, faithfu! friend and kind neighbor; he died of lung
disease March 17, 1863, aged 76.

JOHN POWELL—Prairie TowNsHIP.
BY COL. J. B. DODGE,

One of the very first settlers in, and one of the most respected citizens
of this county, was born in Fairfield County, Ohio, on the 17th day of
June, 1801. His parents, Moses Powell, and Rebecea, his wife, nee Mer-
edith, were originally from Virginia, and !.hey were among the pioneers of
Fairfield County. The duties of pioneer life interfere sadly with the
acquirement of knowledge from books, but lead to an intimate acquaint-
ance with the works of the Creator, and the study of Nature pursued under
circumstances that compel the closest attention to all its lessons, gives a
breadth of mind, a clearness of insight and a quickness of ion that,
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consumed in making a trip that can now be made in as many hours, and Mr.
Powell found himself on Elkhart Prairie, near where Goshen is now. There
was a small settlement there, and he at once secured a tract of land and, as
soon as possible, got it planted with eorn.

After making two or three exploring expeditions, he made up his mind
that Big Turkey Creek Prairic, was about as good a country as he could
find, and he went back to Ohio after his family, und started to return with
them on the 15th of September, 1832. When near the crossing of Blue
River, in the eastern part of Whitley County, he had the misfirtune to
break his wagon. He was compelled 1o leave his wife and little ones in
the woods, without a white psrson within tea miles that they knew of,
Indians and wild beasts roaming everywhere, while he went on to Goshen
and procured another wagon and returned for them, which he accom-
plished safely.

On the 31st of March, 1833, he moved his family into a cabin on the
farm one mile north of Gn‘.veswn, this county, where he afterward died.
His family was the first white family to move on to Big Turkey Creek
Prairie.

On the 8th of November, 1874, Mr. Powell departed this life full of
years, respected and honored by all who knew him. Mrs. Powell, now over
seventy-three years of age, still lives on the same piece of land that she
and her husband moved on to in 1833, in good health and spirits, still
retaining all her faculties, more so than usual by those of her years. Mr.
and Mrs. Powell both became members of the Baptist Church after they
came to this county, and have always lived consistent, Christian lives.
Mr. Powell was never an aspirant for any political position, but was always
aman of positive convictions, and fearless in asserting them. He was very

in the t of his affairs, and left a splendid farm of
about three hundred acres of very fine land to his widow and children.

ISAAC M. POWELL, Prairie ToOWNSHIP.

Isaac M. Powell was born in Fairfield (,uunty, Ohio, in the year 1829,
His father, John Powell, was born in 1801 in the same county, and mar-
ried Miss Dorotha Morris (a native of Virginia) in 1825. The subject of
this sketch enjoyed such educational advantages as were afforded by the
common schools of early days, and was remarkable for the assiduity with
which he pursued his studies. Throughout his school life his conduct was
such that he never received chastisement or rebuke from his teacher. He
was reared a farmer boy, and early conceived a desire to adopt that pursuit
as his voeation in life.  In 1832, he removed with his parents to the prai-
ries of Elkhart County, Indiana, and in March, 1833, located with them in
Kosciusko County, on the farm which he now owns and occupies. Tn 1854,
he was united in marriage with Miss Adeline Summy, a native of Kos-
ciusko County, and the daughter of Frederick Summy, Esq., who was born
in Union County, Ind., in 1809. For nearly half a century, Mr. Pow-
ell has been a resident of Kosciusko County, and has taken an active part
in the cultivation of its soil and the development of its resources. He has

never felt an ambition to figure in political life, and, beyond filling local |

offices in his township, has never served in a public capacity. He devotes
his time and attention to farming, with an energy that has brought forth
rich fruit, and placed him among the best farmers of the county. In the
support of public enterprises and private charities, none are more gener-
ous than he. He is recognized throughout the community as a man of
integrity and sterling worth. He lives at peace with all men, and was
never involved in litigation or a personal quarrel. To bless his wedded
life, there were six children, viz., Nelson W., Warren J., Mary A., John.
Dorotha and Fred, of whom John and Dorotha are deceased.

ELIJAH HARLAN.
BY COL. J. B. DODGE.

Elijab Harlan was born in Marion County, Ohio, on the 13th of April,
1806. His father was a soldier in the war of 1812, and died in the army,
leaving his wife and nine children, of whom Elijah was next to the
youngest. About the close of the war, she was defrauded out of her farm,
that had been left her by her husband, and she, with her family, came to
Wayne County, in this State, to make a new start in life. Elijah, before
he died, knew that the son of the man who had defrauded his mother out
of her home, diéd in the Poorhouse in St. Joseph County, in this State.
The subject of this sketch, at a very early age, became almost the sole
dependence on which his mother could rely, and it caused him to redouble
his exertions, and he was so successful that, when he was eighteen years
old, he purchased a tract of land in Henry County, in this State, and at
once moved on to it with his mother, and went to work to improve it. On
the 21st of June, 1827, he was united in marriage with Miss Elizabeth
Rumbley, of Henry County. They had nine children, but two of whom,
Mrs. B. Thomas and Mrs. H. B. Stanley, both of Leesburg, are now living.
Mrs. Harlan is the daughter of Thomas and Tabitha Rumbley, and was
born in Hamilton County, Tenn., May 1, 1810. She is still living, in the
enjoyment of good health, a plentiful supply of this world's goods, and the
heartfelt respect of all who know her. In October, 1832, her husband,
with his family, moved to Elkhart County, near Goshen; where there was
a small settlement. At that time, it is not known that there was a single
white person living in all of what is now Kosciusko County, with the possi-
ble exception of Dominique Rousseau, an Indian trader, who may possibly
have been here. During the succeeding winter, Mr. Harlan * prospected "
the country, and concluded to pre-empt the tract of land in Little Turkey
Creek Prairie, a couple of miles northeast of Leesburg, on which he lived
at the time of his death, and which now belongs to his widow. Having
partly built a small cabin, of logs, on the land, he moved into it on the 6th
day of March, 1833, and his was the first white family that lived in this
county. Before they could get into the cabin, they had to shovel out a large
quantity of snow that had blown into it, so that an idea can be had of the
kind of a building it was ; and there, without a white neighbor nearer than
ten miles (except Thnmns and Isaac Moore and their families, who moved
into the same vicinity on the same day), surrounded by a multitude of
Indians, who, at that time, were far from friendly, it being at the time the
Black Hawk war was in progress, this hardy pioneer commenced a new
home. In a short time, other families moved in, and the country rapidly
Berls

perhaps, can be acquu'ed in no other way. 'The subject of this sketch was
an excellent illustration of the truth of this, and was one of the best speci-
mens of that hardy race of pioneers that have caused what was a howling
wilderness, when they first penetrated its wilds, to literally biossom as the
rose. On the 22d of March, 1829, he Was united in marriage with Miss
Dorothy Morris, a native of Virginia, at Lancaster, in Fairfield Co., Ohio.
They have three living children—Isaac M., who resides on the old home-
stead ; John C., wholives in Towa, and Cassa A., who is the wife of Hiram
Hall, Esq., of this county. Oa the 20th of March, 1832, he started, vnth
his ox-team, to explore the then almost unknown “ 8. Jnoeph country,” as
this entire part of - this State was then csliecd. Fourteen days were

ped. He wasa man of untiring industry, and great energy, and of

llent b qualificat His wife was a helpmeet worthy of such
a man, and success crowned their efforts. Soon as fine a farm as lies out
of doors was improved, fenced and cultivated. Fine buildings took the
place of the log cabins, and prosperity smiled upon them and crowned their
labors with plenty.

Mr. Harlan departed this life on the 27th of November, 1856, honored
and respected by all who knew him. He was one of the very best citizens
in thie county. A man of unbending integrity, of a kind heart, and a true
Christian, his death was a public loss. A short time after their marriage,
Mr. and Mrs. Harlan united with the Christian Church, and were baptized
by the Rev. Elijah Martindale. Mr. Harlan cont:iued his membership
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during his life, and Mrs. Harlan is still a member. He was a man of
strong feelings and impulses. ~ Such men are always decided in their
political views, and Mr. Harlan was no exception to the rule; but he never
would consent to take an office, preferring to see the principles of his party
carried out by others.

WILLIAM C. GRAVES

was born at Clarksburg, Va., now within the limits of the State of West
Virginia, October 16, 1817. His futher, Francis T. Graves, was borr in

| the State of Maryland, to which his ancestors emigrated from England

amoug the first colonists brought over by Lord Baltimore, about the year
1656.

He was brought up in the city of Washington, and emigrated to Vir-
ginia in 1814, and there married Elizabeth Chapman, a native of Loudon
County, Va.

William C. was the elder of seven children, five boys and two girls.
From early boyhood to his sixteenth year, he had the educational advan-
tages of the academy of his native town, und established there an excellent
character for scholarship. He was especially noted for his good penman-
ship. One of his early schoolmates informed the writer thy at Graves always
had the neatest copy-book of any boy in the Academy." This babit of
neatness and accuracy has been through life a prominent characteristic.

On the death of his father, in December, 1333, he was thrown upon
his own resources, and, from that date forward, he had but little opportunity
for literary culture. The foundation had been laid, however, upon which,
later, a most excellent business character was crected.

Feeling that the West afforded better opportunitics for a young man
without a fortune to back him up, he emigrated to this county in Novem-
ber, 1834, when it was yet an unorganized territory, and at once entered
upon the task of establishing a character, and gathering together a fortune.
With all the hindrances in so new a country, this required nerve, resolution,
perseverance and the most untiring industry. The country was not only
destitute of railroads and canals, but there were not even roads or bridges.
The aborigines still lingered, reluctant to give up this beautiful country—a
country as highly prized by them as Kentucky had becu—to the insatiable
greed for land of the pale-fiuced settlers.

By the autumn of 1835, a village had grown up on the small isthmus
of timber-land that connects the Big and Litle Turkey Creek Prairies, a
most beautiful location for a town, to which the name of Leesburg had
been given. Mr. Graves was selected by the citizens to teach the school, he
being the first teacher of the first school, and in the first schoolhouse erected
in the county. He taught this school for nine months, when receiving an
offer of employment from John D. Defrees, then a merchant of Goshen,
Ind., but now Government Printer at Washington, D. C., which being satisfac-
tory, he went to Goshen, and soon after entered the Clerk's office of that
county, as the Deputy of Thomas Thomus, Esq., the then Clerk of Elkhart
Circuit Court. During the time he was serving in this capacity, he made
the personal acquaintance of Hon. Jonathan A. Liston, of South Bend, then
one of the most able and widely-known lawyers in the State ; and Mr. Liston
being highly pleased with the excellent business qualifications of Mr.
Graves, offered him the position of clerk in his office, with every facility and
aid that his personal attention could give, and his office afford, to study
law.

This offer he aceepted, and remained with Mr. Liston one year, it afford-
ing him the very best opportunitics to make rapid progress in the profession
he had chosen. He then retarned to Kosciusko County, and opened an
office, and engaged in the practice of law. His success was most encoura-
ging, business coming to him in a most satisfactory manner. Tn 1840, con-
trary to his own convictions and against his own judgment, he consented

| with much reluctance, to be a candidate for Clerk of the Cirenit Court.

He was elected, and left the profession. This Mr. Graves deems to have
been a very great mistake, in fact, the most serious of his life. His tastes
and inclinations made the law desirable to him, and without doubt, had he
remained in the profession, he would now be one of our most able lawyers.

In 1842, he was re-elected Clerk, this time for a full term of seven
years, and without opposition. He gave his constant personal attention to
the office until 1847. During that yéar, there wax a good opening to
enwage in the mercantile business in Warsaw, of which he took advantage,
and, desiring to give his whole attention to the business, he resiguned the
office of Clerk during the next year. Tt is only necessary to refer to the
records of the Clerk’s office from 1840 to 1847, to determine that probably
no county ever had a better Clerk.

In 1849, he was elected by his fellow-citizens as Representative in the
State Legislature. In 1862, he was elected as the Senator for the counties
of Wabash and Kosciusko, serving in that hody one term. As a legislator
he was an industrious and most usefal member, seldom speaking, but list-
ened to most attentively, when he did take a part in discussions.

In 1863, in connection with Samuel H. Chipman and others, he organ-
ized the First National Bank of Warsaw, of which corporation Mr. Graves
was elected Cashier, which position he still holds. On accepting this trust,
he resigned his seat in the Senate of Indiana, and the bank has had, during
the years since his elevation to its cashiership, his entire attention and best
talent. No institution of the kind has been better managed, or enjoys the
confidence of the public to a greater extent.

Mr. Graves has been three times married, living now with his third
wife, having three children living in Warsaw, the eldest of whom—Charles
W. Graves—is with his father in the bank. He has one son in the Far
West, if living. Mr. Graves has ‘never been a member of any church, but
attends quite regularly the services of the Methodist Church, and con-
tributes to its support quite liberally. For more than thirty years, he has
been prominently connected with the Masonic Order, having taken all the
degrees up to and including the Orders of Knighthood, and having held the
highest offices in the different Masonic Orders, and being well-informed and
familiar with Masonic literature.

In politics, Mr. Graves is identified with the Republican party, but has
never been an extreme partisan, being conservative in his views, and believ-
ing that all the intelligence and virtue are not to be found in any one politi-
cal party.

During near half a century, Mr. Graves has taken part in the struggles
that have been incident to the settlement of a new country, and witnessed
with satisfaction the exchange of many a rude cabin for a comfortable
home. He has seen a handful of hardy pioneers within the county inerease
and attract, until the then wilderness has been dotted with schoolhouses and
churches, and the ox-wagon give way to the railroad, and now has the
satisfaction to number near 30,000 inhabitants of energy and integrity that
will compare favorably with any other locality. He has had such intimate
relations, in all these years, with the affairs pertaining to the people at
large, that it may be truly said their inte have b His
industry, perseverance, integrity and methodical habits have not only had
their reward in ample means, but have won for him the esteem and confi-
dence of every one acquainted with him.
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METCALFE BECK

was born in the Parish of Thornthwaite, West Riding of Yorkshire,
England, March 17, 1812] His father, Aaron Beck, was born in the
neighboring Parish of Panncl, September 27, 1783, and was by trade a
weaver. His mother's maiden name was Sarah Metcalfe, daughter of
Thomas and Ann Metcalfe, well-to-do farmers of the parish first named.
She died when her son was three years old. Metcalfe then lived with his
grandparents, and was placed at school, during week days, and attended the
Episcopal Chapel on Sundays, until he was nine years old, when his father
brought him to America; they left Liverpool June 12, 1821, in the Ann
Maria, an American sailship, 300 tons burden, Capt. Wilkinson, and landed
in New York July 11, 1821. From New York they started westward,
remaining a short time in Philadelphia ; visited parts of Pennsylvania, and
sojourned near Kennett Square. In the latter part of March, 1825, his
father married Maiia Stern,a handsome and amiable young Quakeress, and
they decided on moving to Ohio. Mr. Beck informs us that he “ felt for
his stepmother the real affection due to a mother.” His father subse-

quently purchased a horse and cart, with bows covered with canvas, and °

they started for the then West, and his young heart swelled with joy at the
prospect before them—at the thought of crossing the Alleghany Mountains ;
once west of the mountains they soon arrived at Pittsburgh, but did not
remain, passing over to Wayne County, Ohio, near Wooster; his father

ed to weave broadeloth ; here, also, his stepmother gave birth to their
son Alfred, in 1825, and here she died, of consumption, in December, 1827.
During the years 1825, 1826 and 1827, Metealfe had one year's schooling,
working at times in the factory at 25 cents a day ; weaving satinet brought
on hemorrhage and he was forced to quit; accordingly we find him in other
business—first clerking for John W. Morris, of Wooster, from December,
1827, to June, 1828 ; subsequently with Z. T. Moure, where he acquired a
sufficient knowledge of German from the customers to wait on them in their
own language. His father subsequently engaged in the grocery trade, and
Metcalfe joined to help him. This business was sold out early in 1834,
His father married his third wife, and moved onto his farm near Mount
Katon, in Wayne County, Ohio, in 1836, and died there May 16, 1841.
During the year 1834, Metcalfe kept grocery in Wooster, and on the 8th of
May, 1835, having sold out, left that place for the West ; stopping first at
Cleveland, then at Toledo and Fort Wuyne, and, on the 29th of June,
1835, proceeded to Kosciusko County, Ind., where he engaged to clerk for
James Comstock. whose store was on the northeast guarter of Seetion 29,
Township 32, Range 6 east. The first article sold wasa half-pound of
Cavendish tobacco, to Benjamin Bennett, July 2,1835. The trade was not
sufficient to keep open store, and he did any work needed, according to his
ability—part of the time mowing grass on the wet prairie, standing in the
water; and at times chopped wood. In November, 1835, it was deemed
best to remove the goods to Leesburg, and there he continued to clerk until
Novewber 16, 1836, at which time, the stock being low, Mr. Comstock
sold it to him in trade. He did business in Leesburg from that time until
March, 1855, when he sold out to his half-brother Alfred, and bought back
in June, 1857. In April, 1863, he sold his store, zoods and real estate in
and about Leesburg, to Edward Moon, and May 1, 1863, removed to War-
saw, his present home. During his merchant life, he was always industri-
ous and cconomical; at one time, during January, 1838, a very cold winter,
he proceeded to Cinciunati on foot to buy goods ; for this he was jeered by
u rival, whose practice was to 1ide; the laugh proved brief, however; in a
few years the rival failed in business and subsided, while Mr. Beck bought
goods where he pleased.  His first trip to New York was about the last of
September, 1838, from where his goods were shipped to Michigan City per
brig Agnes Barton, care of J. & C. Hitcheock ; he afterward bought at
Toledo and Chicago ulso.

December 22, 1836, he was married by Judge Comstock to his eldest
daughter, Kunice M., who was bern in Butler County, Ohio, July 29,
1819. They were divorced May 4, 1848.

His three children (all now living) were born in Leesburg, by his wife
alrcady named. They are Mary E. (now the wife of William Binns),
born in 1837 ; Hudson Beck (now President of the Lake City Bavk), born
in 1839, and married Mary A., daughter of Prof. D. T. Johnson, March 11,
1863 ; and the youngest, Victoria (now wife of Kdward Moon), born in
1842. He was married to his second wife (born Catherine Lewis, of
Columbiana County, Ohio), April 18, 1857 ; she died at the *“ Home on the
Hillside," Danville, N. Y., May 22, 1867, and was brought to Warsaw for
burial.

His third and present wife, was the youngest daughter of J. P. Stryker,
and born near Trenton, N. J., April 10, 1837. She was carefully raised
by the most exemplary Christian purents. Their ancestors were Hugue-
nots of France, who fled to the caves and ins to escape e,
August 24, 1572. A considerable number of Huguenots emigrated to
America, and settled principally in Delaware and the Carolinas.  Yet, not-
withstanding such p ions, the inherited missionary spirit is unabated
in ardor, for her chief desire is to do good in ministering to the poor, and
inculeating truth, Her desire for knowledge has always been insatiable,
and yet, while contending for the truth with uncompromising tenacity, she
is exceedingly tolerant, and ready to use the language of the poet, sayiag :

‘“*Teach me to feel another's woe,
To hide the fault I see; &

The mercy I to others show,
That mercy show to me.”

As might be expected from such traits, she is a wise counselor and val-
uable friend. Her early life was spent in teaching, beginning at fifteen, and
ending with her first marriage, when eighteen. 'This event had been antic-
ipated with unusual delight, but it proved infelicitous, insomuch that the
cup of promise, afier a few short years, fell to the ground, bearing with it
her fond and cherished hopes; left aloe by choice, childless, and almost a
wreck, she was, like her ancestors, sustained and “saved by grace alone.”
With early hopes blasted, in the loss of & companion who might have strewn
roses where he scattercd thorns ; and in the loss of a dear, loving child, and
worn with painful vigils by the dying bed of an only son, it would not seem
strange if affection thus blighted, should wither never more to revive, but,
happily for her, Mr. Beck was permitted to see the blushing rose

“ Wasting its sweetness on the desert air! "’

and a change came over the spirit of their dream, when they two were mar-
cied. The ceremony was performed by Rev. C. ¥. Beach, in Warsaw, Kos-
riusko Co., Ind., March 18, 1869. A son was born to them March 17,
1874, and died when eighteen months old. For many years, Mr. Beck had
cherished a desire to visit England, his native land, and on May 17, 1869,
accompanied by his son Hudson, left Warsaw on the noon train East, for
New York, and, on the 20th of the same month, sailed on the steamship
Cambria, “ Anchor Line,” a0d landed in Glasgow, Scotland, June 10, thence
proceeded by rail to Edinburgh, the mentropolis of Seotland, and thence to
Carlisle, England, thence to Leeds, and then to Thornthwaite Parish, the
place of his nativity, saying:
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' And ever as my homeward path is trod,
The Ocean, Earth and Air
Around me grow more fair,
All radiant with the signet of our God ;
And as Creation’s plan
Is to my clear sense unsealed,
And to & purer intellect revealed,
Youth's joys beoomy the rapture of the man.”’

The logic of his life is simple, and fraught with fullest appreciation of
little things, which aggregate in great pleasures, when such a retrospect as
he now made is granted. Accordingly, we find him giving a mi

consolidated and formed into the Fourth Corps, in October, 1863, which was
engaged in a large number of pitched battles and skirmishes, commeneing at
Mission Ridge, and ending in Texas at the close’of the war.  The Colonel
was never wounded, and never captured but once, and that during a battle
after night, and then he captured the two guards who were placed over
him, mﬁ made them conduct him into the lines of the Union army, and he
turned them over to his Provost Marshal as prisoners of war! He was
always in exposed positions, and during his service bad seven horses shot
under him. For his daring and gallantry, he was highly complimented and

ded for tion by Gen. Buell after the battle of Shiloh, and

of the plish of this long-cherished desire—a visit to his
native land. Leaving Otley, England, he keeps on the alert for the old
landmarks, and his own graphic pen best describes the scenery and friends
now doubly dear after the lapse of nearly half a century: *Our host,
James Dale, of Otley, in his own one-horse carriage, at 10 A. M., started
with H. (his son Hudson) and myself' for Thornthwaite. On our way, we
passed Weston Hall, Weston Moor, Snowdon Moor and Blubber House.
Passing through the moor, H. was iuterested in looking at the moor game,
a species of bird very much like the American grouse or prairie-chicken.
Arriving near Thornthwaite Chapel, we found a man who pointed out to us
the residence of John Metealfe, a one-story stone house, on the side of a
hill overlooking the valley of the River Nid. T found, on inquiry, that he
was the son of my mother’s brother John, and my cousin. [ then learned
that my cousin, Sarah Steele, lived near by, in my grandfather’s old home-
stead—my birthplace, and where T lived when I left England. Hudson
and I went there, and made ourselves known, and she was overjoyed to see
us. I looked about for objects of memory, and first above the doorway of
the old house on the wall is a stone engraved, “ 1774, Thomas and Ann
Metcalfe,”” which I recollected, and which assured me I was not in a dream.
We then went to the chapel where I had often gone when a little boy, and
where my grandparents, my mother, my uncles and my aunts are buried.
1 was shown the old ash-tree, which [ remembered, and which my grand-
father told me he had planted. [ saw the clear spring water in the stone
trough back of the house, which I also remembered, and the little brook
between the house and the school, and the hill sloping to it. Hook Stone
Schoothouse ; the stone slab in the wall over the door reads thus: ¢The
Rev. Francis Day built and endowed this school in the year of our Lord
1794 Here I went to school, and here I am again after an absence of
forty-eight years. The little brook I knew in childhood still babbles
onward over its rocky course ; its little cascades are still the same, but, since
I last saw them, I have seen Niagara, and I now look at them with an
altered apprehension. The little vale remains unchanged, and the gently-
swelling but eternal hills, which hem in the valley of the River Nid, still
look as they did when I last beheld them. * * * We were wrapped as
in the soft drapery of a tranquil dream. We took supper of guoseberry
pie and new milk with my cousin Sarah; and Hudson and I slept in the
old house of my grandfather and his great-grandfather, and had a good
night’s rest ; took breakfast with cousin John Metcalfe, and went with him
to take a farewell look at the old schoolbouse ; thence with him on Darley
Road as far as Darley Station. This morning, we heard the cuckoo for the
first time. At Darley, we took train for Harrowgzate, a fashionable watering-
place, and famous for its spa. My exploration into the country has thus
fur been successful. T have found all the old landmarks, and will now, in
all likelihood, have bid them forever adien.,” Doubtless, a sensitive nature
like his could not longer contemplate the scenes of childhood, now only
known to a few descendants, and therefore they passed on—through York,
Wakefield, Sheffield, Tunstail, Birmingham, Oxford and London. From
here they visited Paris, France, and returned to London, thence to Liver-
pool, and sailed in the Aleppo, of the Cunard line, July 29, and landed in
Boston August 8, 1869. From Boston, their route led to New York, and
thence back to Warsaw via the Pennsylvania Railroad. Sketches of this
trip were published in the Northern Indianian, Vol. XV, No. 1 to 20, com-
mencing December 30, 1869, and “ were attentively read by his many
acquaintances all over the country.”

He was made a Master Mason in Lake City Lodge, No. 371, Warsaw,
Feb. 15, 1869 ; served as Junior Warden for the year 1870; was elected
Treasurer in 1871, and is still serving in that office.

He joined the First Presbyterian Church, Warsaw (of which his wife
is also a member), G. W. Wilson, Pastor, February 22, 1872.

He was appointed Notary Public by Gov. Samuel Bigger, July 22,
1841, and has served all the time under commission of the different Gov-
ernors since then, except one year six months and eighteen days. His last
appointment was by His Excellency James D. Williams, for four years from
February 8, 1878. —

He is the oldest known merchant now living in the county, who sold
goods in it at as early a date as July, 1835. His life demonstrates his
striet integrity and high sense of honor. It is said of him, and is no doubt
true, that no man ever lost a minute by his not keeping his engagements.

September 3, 1873, he delivered an address on the fair ground in War-
saw to the old settlers. It was replete with instruction, reviewing the past
iu an able manner. The old settlers praised the effort, and, to-day, the
facts are highly prized. Those who know him best love him most. Hon-
esty, industry and benevolence characterize him.

COL. JOSEPH B. DODGE

was born June 3, 1830, in Yates County, N. Y. His father was an
eminent minister of the M. E. Church. His paternal great-grandfather
and four brothers were soldiers of the Revolutionary war, and his paternal
and maternal grandfathers were hoth soldicrs of the war of 1812, The
family on his father's side came to this country in 1628. Joseph B.
received a good education. At sixteen, he left the High School for Gene-
see College, at Lima, New York. He only remained there one term, how-
ever, as he  got tired of Greek roots and algebraic signs, and started off.
We next hear of him in Warsaw, Kosciusko Co., Ind., September 11,

| 1848. He found employment in clerking and teaching school during the

[

next six years.

He was married to Miss Lydia L. Cook, of this county, September 17,
1852. They have had two children—daughters. In 1854, he commenced
a general coilection business, in which he continued with good success until
Qctober, 1856, when he was elected Treasurer of Kosciusko County. He
was re-elected in Oetober, 1858.

He recruited the first company (E, Twelfth Indiana Volunteer Infantry,
April 20, 1861), raised in this county for the war of the rebellion, but did
not go‘into the service until August 20, 1861, shortly after which he was
appointed Lieutenant Colonel of the Thirticth Regiment of Indiana Volun-
teer Infantry, end, in April, 1862, was promoted to the position of Colonel
of the same regiment. He was subsequently placed in d of the
famous “ Second Brigade,” Second Division, Twentieth Army Corps, in
which position he continued nearly two years. during which the troops
under his command saw hard service and won many glorious victories,
whereby they became famous. That Corps and the Twenty-first were

by Gen. Rosecransr, after the battles of Stone River and Chickamauga. We
learn that he had doubts as to his ability to learn the duties of a soldier,
but his career shows that he not only learned to obey, which is the first
duty of a soldier, whether in the ranks or among the commissioned, and he
became a thorough disciplinarian, which, with his quick perception of the
duty expressed by the commands under which he moved, or these implied
by the situation, gave him rank among those who worthily bore the name
of gallant soldiers.

During his term of service in Tennessee, he was for some time Presi-
dent of the General Court Martial for that district. He was mustered out
at the expiration of his term of service, September 29, 1864. In 1865, he
was elected one of the Directors of the Northern Prison at Michigan City,
and served two years, during which time a large amount of work was done
on the prison buildings. After returning from the war, he sought the
quiet alone found in rural pursuits; accordingly, we find him engaged in
furming and the nursery business. He subsequently consented to serve as
a Trustee for Wayne Township, which position he filled acceptably from
1868 to 1872. He has been connected with the Kosciusko County Agri-
cultural Socicty from its organization, and is President of the Socicty at
this time. He has for years been a member of Kosciusko Lodge No. 62,and
of Hackleman E No. 37, Independent Order of Odd Fellows, and
has been honored with the highest positions in their gift. He is a man
of generous impulses, and a favorite among his acquaintances, and man-
ifests his loyalty to the Government and devotion to friends both living and
dead in the most decided manner.

JAMES WOODDEN,

one of the very earliest settlers in the county, wasborn in Greenbrier County,
Va., March 2, 1805; his parents were John and Elizabeth Woodden, who
moved from Virginia to Ohio and settled in Darke County in 1816. The
subject of this memoir was married to Catharine Swerrer,of Preble County,
Ohio, in March, 1826, and moved to Wayne County, Ind., where he
remained three years, working at his trade, making hats and returned to
Preble County, Ohio ; bonght a farm and cultivated it until 1834, when he
removed to Kosciusko County and settled on Section 18, in Harrison
Township, where he remained until his death, which occurred December
9, 1868. He was eminently fitted for pioneer life, being a powerful man ;
he stood six feet three inches in his stockings. He named the township,
and was identified with its every interest; and, as will be seen iu the list
of county officers in another part of this work, he was a County Com-
missioner, and as such highly esteemed.

His wife died August 29, 1850 : by her he had five children; he war-
ried his second wife, Catharine C. Linn, of Marshall County, Ind., in
December, 1852 ; by her he had one child.

He became a member of the Methodist Church in September, 1841,
and remained a consistent and zealous member up to the time of his death.

The first post office in Harrison Township was at his house and he was
the Postmaster.

The first election in that township was held at Woodden’s.

It may be well to state that in those days, the Indians, chiefly Potta-
watomies, were numerous thereabouts. Mr. Woodden had acquired their
language, and, when disputes arose, so great was his influence among them,
that he was chosen the arbiter, and they accepted his decision as final.

He b a ber of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows,
Kosciusko Lodge, No. 62, at Warsaw, in 1851 ; was often in attendance,
although having to travel fourteen miles for the pleasure and benefit of
meeting with his brethren. In June, 1862, he was elected Secretary of
the Lodge, and filled successively the chairs of V. G. and N. G., and was
elected and served as Grand Representative of the Grand Lodge of Indiana,
at the May session, 1864,

He was made a member of the Order of Free and Accepted Masons,
Warsaw Lodge, No. 73, on the 17th of December, 1858, and was advanced
to the sublime degree of a Master Mason.

He died a highly respected member of society and an honored member
of the Orders of Odd Fellows and Masons.

HON. DAVID RIPPEY.
BY COL. J, B. DODGE.

Hon. David Rippey was born in Warren County, Ohio, on the 23d of
September, 1807. The next year, his parents moved to Franklin County,
in what was then the Territory of Indiana. Mr. Rippey's father was a
farmer, and he was early trained to habits of industry. In those days, the
only school privileges attainable to the. majority of the rising generation
cousisted of short terms of “subscription schools,” as they were called.
The length of the term, the acquirements of the teacher and the improve-
ment of the scholar were all alike unknown quantities, so that David had
but slender opportunities for acquiring lore from books; but what he was
able to acquire, in connection with the hard, solid common seuse, of which
he had a surprising amount, enabled him to succeed, where persons of
more learning but less sense would have ignominiously failed. He was
united in marriage with Miss Rebecca Ann Catey, of Wayne County, Ind.,
on the Ist day of November, 1827. She departed this life October 19,
1851, lamented by all who knew her. She was the mother of ten children,
seven of whom are still living : Henry C. is Judge of the County Court of
Leon County, Fla.; Mary J. is the wife of Robert B. Long, of this county ;
William J., who is a wealthy farmer in Iowa; Charles D., who is the
owner of the splendid farm and homestead his father formerly owned,
adjoining the town of Leeshurg; Samuel E., who is in the cattle business
in Idaho; Louisa M., who is the wife of William Zimmerman, Esq., of
Leesburg, and John M., who owns a fine farm a couple of miles east of
Leesburg, and is one of our most energetic farmers. It will be seen from
this statement that the family, although widely scattered, must have had
early lessons that have produced good fruit. Mr. Rippey was again mar-
ried on the 2d day of September, 1853, to Mrs. Emily Hodges, who still
survives. Mr. Rippey was among the very first settlers of this county, and
his strong common sense and sterling honesty carried him at once to the
front. At the first election held in this county, in 1836, he was elected
one of the County Commissioners, and he was re-elected to the same office
in 1839, in 1842 and in 1861, each time for a term of three years. He

was elected as Representative of this county in the State Legislature in
<o




1845. Tn addition to these positions, he was elected Trustee of his town-
ship whenever he could be prevailed on to accept the office, which he did
a number of times. In all the various public positions he held, and in all
the private trusts that were confided to him, he proved faithful; no one
was ever deceived or betrayed by him. He was that noblest work of God

—an honest man. He came to this county in April, 1835, and pre- |

empted the tract of land known for years as the “ Rippey furm,” adjoiving

the town of Leesburg, where he lived until May, 1871, when he moved |

to Warsaw, where he died on the 14th of Fchruary, 1874, in the rixty-
seventh year of his age, respected by all who knew him. He wus admitted
to the M. E. Church March 3, 1863, and was a faithful member of the
Church at the time of his death. He was initiated as a member of Lees-
burg Lodge, No. 181, Free and Accepted Masons, December 19, 1855.
On his removal to Warsaw, he withdrew from his old Lodge and became a
member of Warsaw Lodge, No. 73, F. & A. M., July 26, 1871, and was
an honored men of that organization at the time of his decease.

JOEL LONG (Deceasep), PLaix TowNsHIP.

Joel Long was one of the pioneers of Van Buren Township; one who
entered its wilds with the “advance guard of civilization,” and lived many
years within the territory which he and his cotemporaries were instru-
mental in developing and improving. He was born in March, 1797, in the
State of Virginia, and was reared to farm life, and accustomed to labor
from his youth.

At the age of sixteen years, he removed, with his parents, to Jackson
County, Ohio, where he remained until he attained his majority.

At the age of twenty-one years, he married Miss Jane Boggs, sister of
A. H. Boggs, of this county, and continued to reside in Jackson County,
Ohio, for a period of eight years thereafter, at the end of which time he
removed to Henry County, Ind., making his home in that county until
1835. In that year, he came to Kosciusko County, and settled in Van
Buren Township, where he continued to reside until 1867. In that year,
he removed to Leesburg, and there made his home until his decease, in
September, 1869.

He was twice married ; his first wife died in 1839, and a few years |

later he married Mrs. Eby, who still survives, and now resides with her
daughter, in Warsaw.

He was one whom every one respected and honored ; was a man of sound
judg and firm principles, and, in 1836, was chosen by the residents of
this district to represent them in the State Legislature—a position which
he filled with honor to himself, and satisfaction to his constituents.  His son,

ind

ROBERT B. LONG,

was born May 4, 1831, in Henry County, Ind., and came with his parents
to Kosciusko County at the age of four years. He attended the common
school in the neighborlicod of his home, where he acquired a good English
education.  Out of school hours, a large portion of his time was spent in
assisting his father at the necessary labors of the farm.

In 1851, he was united in marriage with Miss Mary J. Rippey, daugh-
ter of David Rippey, Esq., of this county, and in the following year pur-

chased a farm of forty acres in Van Buren Township, where he made his |

“start in the world.” He continued to reside upon this farm until 1874,
during which time he wade many substantial improvements.

In 1873, he purchased the farm near Leesburg, upon which he now
resides, and in the same year crected his present handsome residence, to
which he removed his family in 1874

He has always been a tiller of the soil, in which occupation he finds
“his chief delight; and in connection with this, has been extensively engaged
in raising and selling fine cattle. These occupations, while quite congenial
to him, have also proved of financial profit; and by close attention to busi-
nese, he has amassed a handsome fortune.

He is not a politician ; and, although he has repeatedly been urged to
accept county offices, has iuvariably declined the proffered honor.

He has ever been a generons friend to the houest poor, and a liberal
supporter of enterprises, having, for their object, the advancement of the
county’s interests. During his long residence in this county, he has gained
many friends, who are unanimous in pronouncing him a man of irreproach-
able integrity and honor.

HIKAM HALL

Hiram Hall, son of Samuci D. and utherine Hall, was born Getober
22, 1826, in Hurrison County, Va o Kosciuske Conty with
his parents when but cight years of age, and passed his youthful days amid
scenes of pioncer life which suriounded his home. iz ~ducationa! privi-
leges were limited to « short term during the winter at a neighboring log
schoolhouse ; but, by coreful study in leisir hours, he prepared himself
for a more advanced course, and, at the enty-two years o tered
Franklin College, where he remained during the fall and winter, and sub-
sequently engaged as a school tenchier.  Tn ealy childhood, he learned the
art of farming, and, a8 he reached manhood, the pursuit of that eceupa-
tion became his fixed choice. His thorough knowledge of the art has ena-
bled him to make a success of his calling, and he is accounted one of tha
weglthiest farmers of the towoship in which he resides: December 21,
1851, he was united in marriege with Miss Cassi. A. Powell, dangliter of
John and Dorothy Powiell, of this county

He has traveled extensively in th: Unit d States, bavinz visited vari-
ous portions of Wisconsin and Jowa, ard stuod upon some of the places in
Virginia made memorable as the fields of hatt!. during the late rebellion.
In 1876, he visited the Centennial Exposition at Philadelphis, alsc Dalti-
more, Washington, Harper's Ferry, and oter placss of iuterest, and, in
1878, made an extended tour through Missouri and Kansas,

He has gained by experience, a pructical knowledge of the world, and
his memory is stored with much useful information.

As a member of the United Brethren Church, he has lived a consistent
life, and has ever been & geunerous contributor to the maintenance of relig-
ious institutions. His wife is a member of the same denomination, and an
earnest laborer in the cause of religion.

Both are widely known, and universally respected.

Pra.pie TowNsHE

He came

CRAWFORD KNOWLES, Wayne TownsHIP.

Crawford Knowles was born July 16, 1830, in the State of Pennsylva-
 nia. In 1832, he removed with his father's family to Ohio, and two years
later, came with them to Kosciusko Connty, Ind.

He was early instructed in the details of farm labor, and proved him-
gelf of valuable service to his father, by sssisting him in the performance
of his daily duties, and relieving him of much care and responsibility.

March 1, 1851, he was united in mariage with Miss Mary Parker,
daughter of John and Mary Parker. Ho continued to reside ut the old
homestead, nnd, several years after his marriage, assvmed the ¢
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and control of the farm, and the support of his parents. This trust he
faithfully performed during their life. His mother died April 11, 1858;
his father survived until March 24, 1876, when he, too, was called from

earth. Possessing a thorough knowledge of the art of farming, and, being |

unfamiliar with other occuparions, the subject of this sketch always con-

fined his attention to that art, and never cngagel in speculativns or uncertain |

enterprises of any kind; and, by his close attention to that with which he
was most familiar, and his prudent management of his income, sccured a
competence in worldly goods, and, at the time of his sudden deccase, left
to his*family » valuable and unincumbered estate. His financial success
is the more commendable from the fuct that he assumed control of his
father's estate in this county at a time when it was mortgaged for its full
value; and, in addition to maintaining his parents, and providing for the nec-
essary expenses, he discharged the entire indebtedness of the farm within a
few years, He felt a love for the cultivation of the svil, and entered into
his labor with enthusiastic energy, to which was doubtless due his success.

He was highly esteemed wherever known, and no one, perhaps, cver
possessed more fully the confidence and respect of his fellow-men. He
was never a politician, and never served in a public capacity ; but he was a
man of influence and marked ability, and would have graced any county
office, had his inclinatiuns led him to seek it.

He was a member of the Odd Fellows' fraternity, and his memory will
long be cherished by his brethren of Kosciusko Lodge, No. 62.

In all the walks of life, dnd in all his dealings with men, he estab-
lished an imperishable reputation as a man of integrity and honor.

His wedded life was blessed by six children, viz.: Irena, Allas P,
Elias N., Amanda J., Lura A. and Charles, of whom Lura A. and Charles
alone now survive,

WILLIAM C. STEPHENSON.
BY COL. J. B. DODGE.

Was born in Jackson County, Ohio, on the 6th day of March, 1831.
His parents were originally from Virginia, and were industrious, honest and
thrifty people. There are but few that have lived in this county for
twenty years or over but remember Samuel Stephenson, the father of
William C., a man who was universally respected. He removed to this
county in October, 1834, about two years before the organization of the
county, and, consequently, was one of the very first settlers. He com-
menced making an improvement on a tract of land in what is now Van
Buren Township, and when, two years afterward, as the result of a treaty
made with the Pottawatomie Imﬂaus, the land in this county was thrown
open to entry, he purchased it of the Government. The subject of this
sketch is to-day ome of the very oldest settlers of this county living.

| was raised to the sublime degree of Master Mason October 27, 1871.

When he came to what is now Kosciusko County, it was thickly inhabited |

by Indians. The © trail," or Indian road, from the Indian villages near
where Leesburg, Galveston and Monoquet are now, to the villages at the
upper end of Bone Prairie, aud near where Syracuse is, passed across his
father’s farm, thus making it a prominent highway, and, for a number of
years, it is safe-to say, he saw ten [ndians to where he saw one white per-
son. The children of pioneers were early traioed to perform the labor
necessary to clear up lands, and raise sufficicnt grain and vegetables for
food, and William was no exception. Facilities for gaining an education of
any kind were, as a matter of necessity, almost unknown, and, when he,
after arriving almost to manhood, mastered the mysteries of reading, writ-
ing and arithmetic, he, for the opportunities he had, did well. On the 1st
day of January, 1853, he married Miss Emeline Hayden, daughter of
John W. Hayden, now of Ft. Wayne, formerly of Washington Township
in this county, and they started out on the voyage of life. About three
years after, while living in Plain Township, he had the misfortune to lose
his entire personal property by fire, and he found himself with nothing in
the world except the clothes he and his wife had on, and a pair-of horses,
a wagon and haroess. Nothing daunted by this, they at once resolved to
redouble their exertions. He then bought a tract of land in Prairie Town-
ship, in the thick woods, mostly on credit, and remained there about seven
years, during which time he cleared up a fine farm and erected good build-
ings. During the time he lived on that farm, he had the great misfortune
to lose his wife by death, and, about fourteen wonths afterward, he was
married to Miss Frances Dunlap, who only survived a little over ten
months, leaving her husband and one child, Emma F., to mourn their loss.
On the 12th day of April, 1860, he was again united in marriage to Miss
Sarah Engle. They have one child, a son, Elton W. In 1862, Mr.
Stephenson sold his farm in Prairie Township, and purchased the farm of
James Krvin in Plain Towoship, which farm he sold in 1869, and pur-
chased the farm of Moses Emerson, two and a half miles southwest of
Warsaw, comprising 160 acres of the very best of land, and on which he
now resides. He is a member of Kosciusko Lodge, No. 62, and of
Hackleman Encampment, No. 37, Independent Order of Odd Fellows, and
has filled the highest positions to be attained in ejther. He is also a mem-
ber of Lake City Lodge, No. 371, Free and Accepted Masons.

ANDREW JACKSON BATES, Esq.,
was born January 15, 1830, in Sarahsville, Noble Co., Ohio, then

i a part of Guernsey County. His parents were Isaac Clark Bates and Sarah

(nee Powell). His father was find of the chase, and led a nomadic life,

- and acted as a spy for the United States Government during the struggle of

1790, succeeding the Revoluiion. He left Ohio in 1834, and settled near
Marion, Grant Co., Ind., and, in April, 1835, removed to Kosciusko
County. As might be expected, the educational advantnges enjoyed by his
children were very limited. The subject of this memoir had to struggle for
the education he obtained, by walking from two and a-half to three miles to
school, and then had no opportunity to attend, except during the winter,
and generally only every other winter at that. I:Fc attended school as
opportunity afforded, until about sixteen years of age. It is well to pause
here and consider the true grit, the dogged determination that our subject
manifested in those dark days. No gas-lights, nor kerosene, nor candles to be
had. Under such circumstances it-is more than probable that the majority of
boys of his age would have sought any other pursuit or pastime than books.
Not so with Andrew. At the close of the day’s labor for his widowed
mother, he procured shell-bark, and made sufficient light to see to read, and
there, sometimes until the midnight hour, in the pursuit of knowledge under
difficulties, he would study the few books at his command, and when his
teacher could not help him, which was not an uncommon occurrence, he
would seek out a neighbor who could; and in that way mastered the subject
of arithmetic and other branches sufficiently to be qualified as a school-
teacher, which position he was engaged to fill. He also became a good
speller, and was known as such wherever there was a spelling match.

In 1854, he came to Warsaw, and attended Mrs. Jane Cowen’s Sem-
inary, where, forseveral years, he spent the spring terms. He taught school
during winter, and worked at farming during summer, after leaving school.
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His incl in the di of an were not very decided.
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He, however, generally sought the counsel and company of the aged, find-
ing in their society more pleasure than in the frivolities of youth. Avoid-
ing bad company, he has tried to lead a pure life. He spent most of his
time farming, until 1862, when he entered the United States Army as a pri-
vate soldier in Company C, Fourth Indians Cavalry. He was detailed with -
his company to do escort duty for Gen. Lew. Wallace, then guarding the
city of Cincinnati, Ohio, against the threatened invasion of the rebel Gen-
cral Bragg. After the retreat of the Confederates, he was sent with his
compuny on guard duty, about fifteen miles in Kentucky. There he was
taken prisoner, but was paroled soon after, and returned home. February
11, 1863, he was united in marriage with Miss Elizabeth Wheeler, a very
estimable lady, daughter of Rev. Lyman T. and Margaret Wheeler. Her
father, a minister of the M. K. Church, and herself a devoted Christian.
The ceremony was performed at Warsaw. This union was blessed by seven
children. of whom only Margaret J., Mattie and Mabel now survive.

On the 22d day of February, 1863, he returned to his company, then
serving on escort duty at Milliken's Bend, La., and remained with them
during the campaign of Vicksburg. After its surrender, he was again
placed on scouting duty, and, in consequence of fatiguing marches, his
heulth became impuired, and he was sent to the hospital at Louisville, Ky.
On account of ill-health, he was discharged from the service in June, 1865.

In Februury, 1854, he was converted and united with the Baptist
Church at Warsaw. Soon after uniting with the Church, he was elected a
Deacon, and still occupies that position.  His wife is a member of the same
Church.

Politically, he was classed with the Whigs, although he was never an
active politician.  Since the organization of the Republican party, he has
been identified with it. He was always opposed to slavery, though not an
Abolitionist.

His connection with public office has been confined to the office of
Justice of the Peace, to which he was first elected December 22, 1855, and
has held that position continuously, except during the period of his absence
in the army. This long-continued service in one capacity is a forcible
expression of the confidence entertained for him by his fellow-citizens.
Good men of all parties have united in offering to him this recognition of
meritorious services. He is well read in the law, and his decisions are
sound; but few of them have ever been reversed or appealed to a higher
court.  His legal ubility was recognized by the bar of Kosciusko County,
and, on the 2Gth day of December, 1873, he was admitted as a member of
that body.

He became a member of Warsaw Lodge, No. 73, A, F. & A. M,
September 22, 1871 ; passed to the middle chamber October 6, 1871, and
He
has filled some official position ever since, and, for the past two years, has
served as W. M. He has a deep appreciation of the beauties of Masonry,
and is one of the wost zealous and active members of the Order.

As the business man, he has always been upright and honorable ; and,
as the citizen, has always enjoyed the confid of the nity.

A. H. BOGGS, Pramrie TowNsHIP.

Andrew Hamilton Boggs was born March 7, 1821, in Jackson County,
Ohio. His parents, Andrew and Susanna Bowen Boggs, were natives of
Greenbrier County, Va. They came to Indiana at an early day, where the
father served as Justice of the Peace, in the counties of Delaware and
Blackford, and subsequently as one of the Associate Judges of Blackford
County. Both parents were members of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Their son enjoyed very limited educational advantages in childhood,
acquiring his cducation in luter years by individual cffort. His earliest
education was in the art of farming; and, when but a mere child, he was
able to perform almost any part of the labor incident to farm life. One of
his earliest aspirations was, to own a farm and be an independent farmer ;
and every step in his life was taken with that end in view.

In 1825, he removed with his parants to Wayne County, Ind., where
he resided ten years, assisting his father to clear and cultivate a farm. In
March, 1853, he came with his brother to Kosciusko County, and located
in the township where he now resides. He first engaged as a farm-laborer,
husbanding carefully his earnings, and remained thus employed, until he
had accumulated a sufficient amount to purchase a farm. This accom-
plished, he entered upon the labor of clearing-with great earnestness; and
by his industrious labors, has since been able to realize the dream of his
youth. He is the possessor of a fine farm, well improved and well stocked,
and is recognized as one of the substantial farmers of' this county.

December 14, 1843, he was united in marriage with Miss Martha A.
Thomas, a native of Union County, Ind. This union was blessed by nine
children, viz.: Achsa 8., Wayne, John L., Lucinda, Samuel, Clinton, Jen-
nie, Harvey D. and Rozeana.

WILLIAM DAVIS, Sewarp TownsHIp.

William, son of James L. and Mary Garvin Davis, was born in the
year 1820, in Fairfield County, Ohio. 1In 1835, he came with his parcuts
to Kosciusko County. They settled in Prairie Township, where the sub-

| ject of this sketch grew to manhood, and where the father continued to

reside until his decease, in 1870.

William Davis is one who has literally  grown up with the c¢ountry.”
He was a lad, fifteen years of age at the time of his arrival, and being
young and strong, was a prominent icipant in the “wood choppings "
and other labors incident to pioneer life. His educational privileges were
limited; but a naturally bright intellect, assisted by patient researches in
later years, placed him far above the level of the uneducated.

e was married, in 1844, to Miss Margaret, daughter of Samuel and
Catharine Magner, of Franklin Township, this county. This union was
blessed by five children, viz.: Amos M., John M., Algernon 8., Arthur
W. and Florence R.—all of whom are living, save one.

In 1850, Mr. Davis purchased the farm upon which he now resides,
and upon which he has effected many improvements. The most ardent
desire of his youth was to a farm ; and every penny was saved with
that end in view, and all honorable means employed to accomplish his

ose.
In 1864, his wife died; later in the same year he was a second time
married, choosing, for his companion. Miss Margaret, daughter of David and
Julia A. Vandemark, of Harrison Township, who bore him five children,
viz.: Emma A., Otis B,, Cora W, Julia and William B

In 1848, Mr. Davis b a ber of the Indep Order of
Odd Fellows, and passed through the various degrees of the subordinate
Lodge to the rank of Past Grand.

politics he is a Republican; in religion, Liberal. Heis a cordial

friend to public improvements, and never withholds his encouragement
from enterprises, having, for their object, the good of the community. A
man who occupies a high sociul position, and is d and h d by
all who know him.
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